#### NO, 46793-3-II

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

#### NOLAN BROOKS GWINN, SR.

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Christine M. Schaller, Judge

#### OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Peter B. Tiller, WSBA No. 20835 Of Attorneys for Appellant

The Tiller Law Firm Corner of Rock and Pine P. O. Box 58 Centralia, WA 98531 (360) 736-9301

##

#### A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Trial counsel's failure to object to damaging propensity evidence involving prior convictions of a no contact order protecting the complaining witness in this case denied appellant effective assistance of counsel.

#### B. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Appellant was charged with felony violation of a protection order based on an allegation that he was at the residence of the protected party and that he repeatedly called the protected party. To prove felony violation of a court order, the State is required to prove the appellant had two prior convictions for violating no contact orders. The State presented evidence not only that the appellant had previously been convicted, but also that the protected party in the previous convictions is the complainant in the current offense. Did trial counsel's failure to object to this damaging propensity evidence deny the appellant effective representation? Assignment of Error 1.

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Factual and procedural history:

Nolan Gwinn and Elizabeth Gwinn were married in 2001 and

separated approximately twelve years later. 1Report of Proceedings (RP) at 113. Ms. Gwinn obtained a no contact order against Mr. Gwinn in Olympia Municipal Court preventing him from coming within 1000 feet of her residence, located at 419 Boulevard Road SE in Olympia, Washington. 1RP at 55-61, 115. The order is valid until September 30, 2015. Exhibit 3. The State presented evidence that Mr. Gwinn was previously convicted of two counts of Violation of a No Contact Order on September 10, 2010 in Olympia Municipal Court cause no. 09-3231, in which Ms. Gwinn was the protected party. 1RP at 63-65, 81. Exhibit 1. Defense counsel did not object to this evidence. 1RP at 64.

On July 14, 2014, Ms. Gwinn returned to her home from work to pick up her son for lunch. 1RP at 42, 115, 116, 117. As she parked in the driveway, she noticed that Nolan Gwinn was standing on the driveway near a flight of stairs leading down to an exterior basement door of her house. 1RP at 116. She told him that there was a no contact order preventing him from coming within 1000 feet of her property and he agreed to leave. 1RP at 117, 118.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The record of proceedings consists of two volumes:

<sup>1</sup>RP-September 15, 2014, and September 16, 2014, jury trial; and

<sup>2</sup>RP-October 7, 2014, sentencing.

Ms. Gwinn reported that at approximately 6 or 7 p.m. later that day, she saw Mr. Gwinn standing by the side of the house, and that she again told him that she was going to call the police if he did not leave. 1RP at 118, 120, 122, 123. She stated that he complied, but that approximately twenty minutes later she began to receive dozens calls from Mr. Gwinn placed to her cell phone and her land line. 1RP at 125-29. While on the phone with Mr. Gwinn, she called 911. 1RP at 128.

Officer Ashley Cavalieri of the Olympia Police Department was dispatched to Ms. Gwinn's residence but she did not locate Mr. Gwinn at the house or in the vicinity. 1RP at 48, 52.

Ms. Gwinn's son, Martin Kohn, testified that he did not see Mr. Gwinn at the house on July 14, 2014, but stated that Mr. Gwinn had called the residence several times that day while his mother was at work. 1RP at 108, 109.

Mr. Gwinn was arrested the following day at the Holly Motel in Olympia for violation of the no-contact order. 1RP at 54, 78.

Mr. Gwinn was charged by information in Thurston County Superior Court with felony violation of a no-contact order under the alternative mean of having two prior convictions for violating a no-contact order. RCW 26.50.110(5). Clerk's Papers (CP) 6. The information also included a special allegation that the offense occurred against a member of the same family or household as defined pursuant to RCW 10.99.020. CP 6. Jury trial in the matter started September 15, 2014, the Honorable Christine M. Schaller presiding.

The defense rested without calling witnesses. 1RP at 145.

#### 2. Verdict and sentence:

The jury found Mr. Gwinn guilty as charged and answered "yes" on the special verdict form asking whether the crime occurred against a family or household member. 1RP at 184; CP 39, 40. At sentencing, defense counsel requested a drug offender sentencing alternative ("DOSA"), arguing he was eligible due to his use of methamphetamine during the four day days prior to the offense. 2RP (10/7/14) at 7-9. The State opposed the defense request for DOSA, arguing that that the offense was motivated by jealousy, not drug use. 2RP (10/7/14) at 4-6. The court denied Mr. Gwinn's request for a DOSA and imposed a standard range sentence of 13 months. 2RP (10/7/14) at 12.

Mr. Gwinn timely filed a notice of appeal. CP 48-58.

#### D. ARGUMENT

#### 1. <u>APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED</u> <u>INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE.</u>

a. Defense counsel failed to object to irrelevant evidence showing that the appellant's two prior violations of a no contact order involved the same complainant as in the current offense

In order to convict a defendant of a felony violation of a court order protecting a named person under RCW 26.50.110(5), the defendant must have had two prior convictions for violation of a protection order. To elevate a current alleged violation of the statute to a felony, it is not required that the two prior convictions are for violation of court orders in which the protected party was the same complainant as in the current charge.

RCW 26.50.110(5) provides in relevant part:

A violation of a court order issued under this chapter... is a class C felony if the offender has at least two previous convictions for violating the provisions of an order issued under this chapter.... The previous convictions may involve the same victim or other victims specifically protected by the orders the offender violated.

Here, Mr. Gwinn was charged with violating a protection order by going to Ms. Gwinn's house and repeatedly calling her. CP 6. The State submitted as proof of two prior violations a Judgment and Sentence filed on September 10, 2010 in Olympia Municipal Court in which Ms. Gwinn was the protected party. The Judgment and Sentence provides that Mr. Gwinn is required to have domestic violence treatment and that he is prohibited from

having contact with Elizabeth Gwinn. Exhibit 1.

Evidence that the two prior violations both involved Ms. Gwinn as the protected person was irrelevant because the State was not required to establish for the current charge that the protected person was also Ms. Gwinn in the prior cases. RCW 26.50.110(5). While the fact that Mr. Gwinn had previously been convicted of violating a no contact order was unquestionably relevant to the charge in this case, the details of the two prior convictions were not.

Evidence showing that he had previously violated court orders protecting Ms. Gwinn was deeply prejudicial, effectively taking the form of inadmissible ER 404 propensity evidence. The only purpose served by evidence that he had previously violated a no-contact order protecting Ms. Gwinn was to suggest that Mr. Gwinn was a criminal type who did not respect the prior no contact order obtained by Ms. Gwinn in the past and who therefore must be guilty in the current case as well: Nonetheless, trial counsel failed to object to the evidence regarding the identity of the protected party in the two prior convictions.

b. Trial counsel was ineffective by failing to object to evidence that he was previously convicted of violating a no contact order involving Ms. Gwinn.

Both the federal and state constitutions guarantee a criminal

defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. 1, § 22. A defendant is denied this right when his attorney's conduct "(1) falls below a minimum objective standard of reasonable attorney conduct, and (2) there is a probability that the outcome would be different but for the attorney's conduct." *State v. Benn*, 120 Wn.2d 631, 663, 845 P.2d 289 (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 944 (1993).

To establish the first prong of the *Strickland* test, the defendant must show that "counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances." *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229-30, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). To establish the second prong, the defendant "need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome of the case" in order to prove that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226. Rather, only a reasonable probability of such prejudice is required. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693; *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226. A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the case. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226.

In this case, it was ineffective for Mr. Gwinn's counsel to fail to object to evidence that Ms. Gwinn was the complainant in the prior offenses that the State proved as an element of the felony violation of a no contact order. To compound the error and underscore for the jury that Ms. Gwinn was the complainant in at least one prior violation of an order, defense counsel elicited testimony from Ms. Gwinn that Mr. Gwinn had previously violated a no contact order in which she was the protected party, for which Mr. Gwinn "got in trouble." 1RP at 136.

If an element of the charged offense is a prior conviction of the very same type of crime, there is a particular danger that a jury may believe that the defendant has some propensity to commit that type of crime. *State v. Roswell*, 165 Wn.2d 186, 198, 196 P.3d 705 (2008). Such evidence is often "highly prejudicial." *Old\_Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 185, 117 S. Ct. 644, 136 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1997).

In *Old Chief*, 519 U.S. 172, the United States Supreme Court recognized that a defendant may be prejudiced by evidence regarding a prior conviction and held that he may stipulate to the fact that he has a prior conviction in order to prevent the State from introducing evidence concerning details of the prior conviction to the jury.

ER 404(b) forbids evidence of prior acts which establishes only a defendant's propensity to commit a crime. *State v. Wade*, 98 Wn. App. 328, 333, 989 P.2d 576 (1999). It is fundamental that a defendant should be tried based on evidence relevant to the crime charged, and not convicted because the jury believes he is a bad person who has done wrong in the past. *State v. Lough*, 125 Wn.2d 847, 853, 889 P.2d 487 (1995).

Here, the trial court would have likely sustained an objection to the evidence showing that Mr. Gwinn previously violated a no-contact order involving Ms. Gwinn on ER 404(b) grounds, or at least permitted the defense to stipulate to the existence of the convictions without introduction of the unredacted Judgment and Sentence containing Ms. Gwinn's name. The specific detail of the complainant's identity in the prior convictions was not relevant at trial to the extent that the prior convictions both pertained to Ms. Gwinn and were unduly prejudicial to the defense, calling attention to his criminal propensity. Had defense counsel stipulated to the existence of the prior convictions, the trial court would have been bound to accept the stipulation. There was no valid strategic reason to fail to object to specific evidence regarding the offense and stipulate where there was no dispute regarding the existence of the prior convictions.

Counsel was deficient in failing to object to the evidence, as Mr.

Gwinn derived no conceivable benefit from this evidence. In addition, Mr.

Gwinn was prejudiced by counsel's error. The propensity evidence guaranteed

the outcome of guilty verdict. Once it learned from inspection of the Judgment

entered as Exhibit 1 that the appellant had previously done exactly what he

allegedly did in the present case—violated a court order protecting Ms.

Gwinn—the conviction was essentially made a fait accompli by the improper

inference that the defendant was a criminal type who had committed

essentially identical violations against Ms. Gwinn in 2010, and he therefore

must be guilty of the charged offense. Counsel's failure to object to the

evidence or stipulate to the two prior convictions undermines confidence in

the outcome of the case, and reversal is required.

E. CONCLUSION

Trial counsel's failure to object to damaging propensity evidence

constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel, and Mr. Gwinn's conviction

should be reversed.