A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

Whether defense counsel was ineffective, and Gwinn was

prejudiced, by failing to prevent the State from offering evidence
that Gwinn' s two prior convictions for violating a no- contact order
involved the same victim as named in the current charge. 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

The State accepts Gwinn' s statement of the substantive and

procedural facts of the case. 

C. ARGUMENT. 

The State was entitled to present evidence that Gwinn

had two prior convictions for violation of a no- contact
order. The fact that those two convictions involved

the same victim as the charge for which he was on
trial was no more prejudicial or indicative of

propensity than if two other different individuals had
been the victims of those offenses. 

Gwinn was charged with one count of felony violation of a

post - conviction no- contact order, domestic violence. CP 6. The

State was required to prove that he had at least two prior

convictions for violating a restraining order, protection order, or no- 

contact order issued under specific chapters of the Revised Code

of Washington. Id. At trial, the State offered Exhibit I, a certified

judgment and sentence from the Olympia Municipal Court, which

showed two convictions for violation of a no- contact order. That

judgment and sentence was admitted into evidence without
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objection. RP 64. 1 On appeal, Gwinn now claims that his attorney

was ineffective for failing to object to the admission of this

document. He argues that the notation on the judgment and

sentence that he was prohibited from contact with Elizabeth Gwinn, 

the protected party of the no- contact order at issue in this trial, 

suggest[ed] that Mr. Gwinn was a criminal type who did not

respect the prior no contact order obtained by Ms. Gwinn in the

past and who therefore must be guilty of the current case as well." 

Appellant's Opening Brief at 6. 

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are reviewed de

novo. State v. White, 80 Wn. App. 406, 410, 907 P. 2d 310 ( 1995). 

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, an

appellant must show that ( 1) counsel' s performance was deficient; 

and ( 2) the deficient performance prejudiced him. State v. Thomas, 

109 Wn.2d 222, 225 -26, 743 P. 2d 816 ( 1987). Deficient

performance occurs when counsel' s performance falls below an

objective standard of reasonableness. State v. Stenson, 132

Wn.2d 668, 705, 940 P. 2d 1239 ( 1997), cert. denied, 523 U. S. 

1008 ( 1998). An appellant cannot rely on matters of legitimate trial

strategy or tactics to establish deficient performance. State v. 

1 All references to the Verbatim Report of Proceedings are to the single volume

of trial transcript dated September 15 and 16, 2014. 
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Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77 -78, 917 P. 2d 563 ( 1996). 

Prejudice occurs when, but for the deficient performance, the

outcome would have been different. In re Pers. Restraint of Pirtle, 

136 Wn. 2d 467, 487, 965 P. 2d 593 ( 1996). There is great judicial

deference to counsel' s performance and the analysis begins with a

strong presumption that counsel was effective. Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U. S. 668, 689, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674

1984); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn. 2d 322, 335, 899 P. 2d 1251

1995). A reviewing court need not address both prongs of the test

if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one prong. If it is

easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of

lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. 

Strickland, 104 S. Ct. at 1069 -70. Moreover, counsel' s failure to

offer a frivolous objection will not support a finding of ineffective

assistance. State v. Briggins, 11 Wn. App. 687, 692, 524 P. 2d 694, 

review denied, 84 Wn. 2d 1012 ( 1974). 

A defendant must overcome the presumption of effective

representation. Strickland, 466 U. S. at 687. " The reasonableness

of counsel' s performance is to be evaluated from counsel' s

perspective at the time of the alleged error and in light of all the

3



circumstances." Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U. S. 365, 384, 106 S. 

Ct. 2574, 91 L. Ed. 2d 305 ( 1986). 

The State bears the burden of proving every essential

element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Byrd, 125

Wn.2d 707, 713, 887 P. 2d 396 ( 1995). One of the essential

elements of felony violation of a no- contact order is that the

defendant was previously convicted at least twice of violation of a

no- contact order. State v. Roswell, 165 Wn.2d 186, 189, 196 P. 3d

705 ( 2008). Defense counsel could have offered to stipulate that

Gwinn had two such prior convictions, which would have sufficed to

meet the State' s burden of proof of that element, and the court

would have abused its discretion if it refused to admit the

stipulation. Old Chief v. United States, 519 U. S. 172, 174, 117 S. 

Ct. 644, 136 L. Ed. 2d 574 ( 1997). 

It is a longstanding rule that where a prior conviction is an

element of the charged offense, it is not error to permit the jury to

hear evidence of that prior conviction. Roswell, 165 Wn2d at 197. 

It is relevant evidence and Gwinn does not claim that it is not. 

Appellant' s Opening Brief at 6. He argues that the identity of

Elizabeth Gwinn as the protected party in the prior no- contact order

violations was not relevant, Appellant' s Opening Brief at 9, and he
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is correct. His argument that this somehow becomes inadmissible

ER 404(b) evidence, however, does not follow. Appellant' s

Opening Brief at 9. 

ER 404( b) prohibits evidence of a person' s character or a

trait of character to prove that he acted in conformity with that trait. 

The judgment and sentence, Exhibit 1, was not offered for that

purpose. It was offered to prove an element of the charged crime. 

Presumably defense counsel could have sought to redact Elizabeth

Gwinn' s name from that document but he did not. 

It appears from the record that defense counsel had reason

to want the judgment and sentence admitted without redaction. 

First, it allowed Gwinn to present a theory that Elizabeth Gwinn had

lied about him being at her residence because she knew it would

result in him getting into trouble. On cross examination, counsel

engaged in the following exchange with Ms. Gwinn: 

Q: But you wanted to be free of him. 

A: Yes. 

a Ms. Gwinn, at least on one prior occasion, you

know that Nolan had contact with you when he wasn' t

supposed to .. . 

A: Um -hmm. 
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Q:... and he was charged, and he got in trouble for
that. 

A: Yes. 

Q: So you know that if the police are called and

there' s a no contact order, that that's a way you can
be free of him. 

A: Yes. ! also know that if he' s disturbing the peace, 
that that's why 1 would call. And if he' s not disturbing
the peace .. . 

RP 136. 

Defense counsel was then able to argue in closing that

Elizabeth Gwinn' s testimony that she saw Gwinn at her residence, 

and received numerous telephone calls from him soon thereafter, 

was insufficient to prove those facts, rather vaguely arguing that

she wanted to be free of him and reporting him for a no- contact

order violation was a way to do that. RP 165 -68. Had counsel

stipulated to the fact of conviction, or objected to the judgment and

sentence being admitted into evidence without redaction, he would

not have had evidence before the jury that the same victim was

involved in all three offenses. 

Second, having the judgment and sentence in evidence

allowed counsel to make a second argument that, because the two

convictions occurred on the same day, they really only counted as
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one conviction. RP 169 -70. A stipulation would have made this

argument impossible. The evidence against Gwinn was

overwhelming, and counsel had to take advantage of any argument

available to him, however weak it may have been. 

Finally, Gwinn' s argument that the knowledge that Elizabeth

Gwinn was the victim in the previous no- contact order violations

prejudiced the jury against him is not particularly logical. He

maintains that the jury would have been swayed by his propensity

to violate a no- contact order three times against the same person, 

and would have been willing to convict him even if they did not

believe, beyond a reasonable doubt, that he had actually been at

Elizabeth Gwinn' s residence on July 14, 2014. The alternative, 

however, had the jury not known the victim of the prior offenses, 

was that it might consider there were three people who had

obtained no- contact orders against him and that he had violated

against three people. That hardly seems to put him in a more

sympathetic light than the idea that he was obsessed with one

person and repeatedly violated orders against that one person. 

Admission of the unredacted judgment and sentence was likely less

prejudicial than leaving the jury to speculate about the previous

violations. 
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A review of the record as a whole shows that defense

counsel conducted a thorough and vigorous defense of Nolan

Gwinn. An unsuccessful defense does not equal ineffective

assistance of counsel. 

D. CONCLUSION. 

Gwinn has failed to establish either substandard

performance on the part of his trial counsel, or prejudice resulting

from counsel' s representation. The State respectfully asks this

court to affirm his conviction.